Report of the Code Reviewer

(the Hon J. C. S. Burchett, QC, formerly a Justice of the Federal Court of Australia) upon a review of the operation of the Code of Conduct of the Copyright Collecting Societies of Australia

Issued June 2011

In addition to regular annual reviews, the Code of Conduct adopted by each of the societies named in the Appendix provides for triennial reviews, of a quite different nature from what is carried out annually. Whereas year by year the Code Reviewer reports on the performance by each society of its obligations under the Code, every three years the Code itself is re-examined, in the light of experience of its operation, with a view to consideration being given to any amendments that may appear desirable. As on previous occasions, in relation to both types of review, submissions were invited from interested persons and bodies, notified by the websites of the societies, by mail and by newspaper advertisement. A public meeting, advertised well in advance, was held on 14 February 2011, chaired by the Code Reviewer. Further details are set out in the Appendix.

A report such as this does not commence, as it were, in mid-air. It is part of the continuing process of the functioning of the Code. Therefore, it is worth looking back to the adoption of the Code, which plainly aimed at establishing and securing the observance of high standards for the operation of the societies, particularly in their relations with members and licensees. The report of the first triennial review was headed with a quotation from Shakespeare's *Measure for Measure*, Act 2, Sc 2, I. 109:

> "O, it is excellent To have a giant's strength, but it is tyrannous To use it like a giant."

The Code aims to support the statutory role of the Copyright Tribunal by requiring the societies to use their strength, not merely lawfully, but fairly; and to provide an administrative framework within which acting fairly is strongly encouraged, and the achievement of fairness in practice may be judged.

In the light of this review, and of the Code Reviewer's experience of the operation of the Code over a number of years, it is clear that the Code has influenced the conduct of the societies, and that it has been conscientiously applied in their day-to-day activities. The meticulous keeping of Complaints Registers, for instance, under the control of Complaints Officers whose intervention is mandatory, has resulted in a considerable reduction in complaints, despite the growth in the numbers of members, licensees and transactions. Details have been recorded in several of the annual reports of the Code Reviewer.

While the Code has had obvious beneficial effects on the ordinary dealings of the societies with their members and licensees, problems do arise from time to time in relation to the negotiation of new or significantly changed licences. Of course, the ultimate statutory remedy for a conflict in this area is the Copyright Tribunal, which was constituted to resolve such conflicts. But resort to it may prove costly, and the alternative of negotiation (where seen as feasible) is often preferred. However, if difficulties then arise, there may be dissatisfaction. The truth may be that a party may be too one-eyed to appreciate another party's point of view, and that may lead to criticism which is unjustified but adamantly maintained. On the other hand, a complaint may be based on a failure to give an interested entity an opportunity or a sufficient opportunity to take part in negotiations by the result of which it or its members may be affected. With this latter issue in mind, some amendment of the Code, to endeavour to ensure that representative bodies which actually have a real interest are not left out of account when negotiations are initiated. has been resolved upon.

Non-controversial amendments have also been made to cover the situation of a society appointed to collect sums payable under the *Resale Royalty Right*

for Visual Artists Act, 2009. The performance of that work will be governed by the Code.

The limited areas of the Code which appear to require some amendment are testimony to its effectiveness. I consider the societies have continued to set for themselves a high standard of conduct, and they are entitled to have me reiterate in this report that, with very few exceptions, they have maintained that standard. The price of their continuing to do so is, of course, continued vigilance.

The societies have agreed upon amendments to deal with the matters which have been mentioned and a copy of the amended Code that has resulted is included in the Appendix.

Dated this 30th day of June 2011

The Hon J C S BURCHETT, QC Code Reviewer

Appendix to the Report of the Code Reviewer

- 1. The societies to which this report relates are: Australasian Performing Right Association Limited ("APRA"), Australasian Mechanical Copyright Owners Society Limited ("AMCOS"), Phonographic Performance Company of Australia Limited ("PPCA"), Copyright Agency Limited ("CAL"), Audio-Visual Copyright Society Limited ("Screenrights"), Viscopy Limited ("Viscopy"), Australian Writers' Guild Authorship Collecting Society Limited ("AWGACS") and Australian Screen Directors Authorship Collecting Society Limited ("ASDACS").
- 2. Details of the advertisement of this review are:
 - (a) The Australian newspaper Saturday 4 December 2010, as follows:



 Posting on individual societies' websites for the period from early December 2010 until the close of submissions, 28
 February 2011 and by mailout to the licensees of those societies who have licensees. Code of Conduct for Copyright Collecting Societies

Amended: 1 July 2011

CONTENTS

1.	INTR	3		
	1.1	Background	3	
	1.2	Scope	4	
	1.3	Objectives	4	
2.	OBLI	5		
	2.1	Legal Framework	5	
	2.2	Members	5	
	2.3	Licensees	6	
2.4 Distribution of Remuneration and Licence Fees			7	
	2.5	Collecting Society Expenses	7	
	2.6	Governance and Accountability	8	
	2.7	Staff Training	8	
	2.8	Education and Awareness	9	
3.	COMPLAINTS AND DISPUTES			
4.	PUBLICITY AND REPORTING 12			
5.	MON	ITORING, REVIEW AND AMENDMENTS	12	
	5.1	Code Reviewer	12	
	5.2	Annual Compliance Monitoring and Reporting	13	
	5.3	Review and Amendment of the Code	15	
6.	DEFIN	IITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	16	
	6.1	Definitions	16	
	6.2	Interpretation	17	
TAE	BLE OF	AMENDMENTS TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT	18	

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

- (a) Collecting Societies in Australia provide a range of valuable services to both Members and Licensees. By administering copyright or the resale royalty right or both on behalf of Members, Collecting Societies:
 - (i) promote the creation and dissemination of copyright material;
 - (ii) represent the interests of creators and owners of copyright material;
 - (iii) make it easier for people to obtain permission to use copyright material;
 - (iv) streamline the process of collecting remuneration and/or licence fees for the use of copyright material; and
 - (v) reduce the transaction costs for both Members and Licensees associated with the use and exploitation of copyright material.
- (b) Each Collecting Society aspires to:
 - (i) achieve best practice in the conduct of its operations;
 - (ii) be responsive to the needs of Members and Licensees;
 - (iii) ensure transparency and accountability in the conduct of its operations; and
 - (iv) achieve efficiency in the process of allocating and distributing payments to Members.
- (c) In recognition of the services they provide, Collecting Societies expect that:
 - Licensees and other users of copyright material will respect the rights of the creators and owners of that material, and in particular their right to receive fair payment for the use and exploitation of copyright material; and

- (ii) Licensees and other users of copyright material will use that material only in accordance with:
 - A. the terms of a licence or other permission; and/or
 - B. the *Copyright Act 1968*, the Copyright Regulations, any other applicable legislation, relevant decisions of courts or tribunals (including the Copyright Tribunal), and other binding legal requirements, conditions or guidelines.

1.2 Scope

This Code applies to those Collecting Societies that have agreed to be bound by the Code.

1.3 **Objectives**

The objectives of this Code are:

- (a) to promote awareness of and access to information about copyright or the resale royalty right or both and the role and function of Collecting Societies in administering copyright or the resale royalty right or both on behalf of Members;
- (b) to promote confidence in Collecting Societies and the effective administration of copyright or the resale royalty right or both in Australia;
- to set out the standards of service that Members and Licensees can expect from Collecting Societies; and
- (d) to ensure that Members and Licensees have access to efficient, fair and low cost procedures for the handling of complaints and the resolution of disputes involving Collecting Societies.

2. OBLIGATIONS OF COLLECTING SOCIETIES

2.1 Legal Framework

Each Collecting Society will comply with:

- (a) the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations;
- (b) the *Copyright Act 1968* and the Copyright Regulations;
- (c) its Constitution;
- (d) the Attorney-General's Guidelines for Declared Collecting Societies (where applicable);
- (e) its obligations under the *Privacy Act 1988*, including the National Privacy Principles, or any Privacy Code that applies to the Collecting Society;
- (f) in the case of the declared Collecting Society under that Act, the *Resale Royalty Right for Visual Artists Act 2009*; and
- (g) any other applicable legislation, relevant decisions of courts or tribunals (including the Copyright Tribunal), and other binding legal requirements, conditions or guidelines that apply to the Collecting Society.

2.2 Members

- (a) The membership of a Collecting Society will be open to all eligible creators of copyright material, and to anyone who owns or controls copyright material or the resale royalty right or both, in accordance with the Constitution of the Collecting Society.
- (b) Each Collecting Society will treat its Members fairly, honestly, impartially, courteously, and in accordance with its Constitution and any Membership Agreement.
- (c) Each Collecting Society will ensure that its dealings with Members are transparent.

(d) Each Collecting Society will provide a copy of its Constitution to a Member at the time that the Member first joins the Collecting Society, or at any time on request. A Collecting Society will also provide a copy of its Constitution to a potential Member on request.

2.3 Licensees

- Each Collecting Society will treat Licensees fairly, honestly, impartially, courteously, and in accordance with its Constitution and any licence agreement.
- (b) Each Collecting Society will ensure that its dealings with Licensees are transparent.
- (c) Each Collecting Society will:
 - make available to Licensees and potential Licensees information about the licences or licence schemes offered by the Collecting Society, including the terms and conditions applying to them, and about the manner in which the Collecting Society collects remuneration and/or licence fees for the use of copyright material; and
 - (ii) to the extent it reasonably can, having regard to the complexity of the questions of fact and law necessarily involved, take steps to ensure that all licences offered by the Collecting Society are drafted so as to be plainly understandable to Licensees, and are accompanied by practical and suitable explanatory material.
- (d) Licence fees for the use of copyright material will be fair and reasonable. In setting or negotiating such licence fees, a Collecting Society may have regard to the following matters:
 - (i) the value of the copyright material;
 - (ii) the purpose for which, and the context in which, the copyright material is used;
 - (iii) the manner or kind of use of the Copyright Material;

- (iv) any relevant decisions of the Copyright Tribunal; and
- (v) any other relevant matters.
- (e) The Collecting Societies acknowledge the important role played by relevant industry associations in relation to the formulation of terms and conditions applying to licences or licence schemes offered by some Collecting Societies.
- (f) Each Collecting Society will where appropriate consult in good faith with relevant industry associations in relation to the terms and conditions applying to licences or licence schemes offered by the Collecting Society.

2.4 Distribution of Remuneration and Licence Fees

- (a) Each Collecting Society will maintain, and make available to Members on request, a Distribution Policy that sets out from time to time:
 - the basis for calculating entitlements to receive payments from remuneration and/or licence fees collected by the Collecting Society (Revenue);
 - (ii) the manner and frequency of payments to Members; and
 - (iii) the general nature of amounts that will be deducted from Revenue before distribution .
- (b) Each Collecting Society will distribute payments to its Members in accordance with its Constitution and Distribution Policy.

2.5 Collecting Society Expenses

Each Collecting Society will deduct from its total Revenue:

- (a) the expenses of managing and operating the Collecting Society; and
- (b) any other amounts authorised by its Constitution. These may include, for example, the costs of promotional activities, educational programs, cultural funds, donations in support of creators and owners of copyright material, membership of industry associations, or other charitable purposes.

2.6 Governance and Accountability

- (a) The Board of Directors of a Collecting Society will be accountable to its Members.
- (b) Each Collecting Society will at all times maintain proper and complete financial records, including in relation to:
 - (i) the collection and distribution of Revenue; and
 - (ii) the payment by the Collecting Society of expenses and other amounts described in clause 2.5.
- (c) Each Collecting Society will ensure that its financial records are audited at least annually.
- (d) Consistent with its obligations under the *Privacy Act 1988* and any applicable duty of confidentiality, a Collecting Society will provide a Member, on request, with reasonable information about that Member's entitlement to receive a payment from Revenue.
- (e) Each Collecting Society will include in its Annual Report information about:
 - (i) total Revenue during the reporting period;
 - (ii) the total sum and general nature of expenses and other amounts described in clause 2.5; and
 - (iii) the allocation and distribution of payments to Members in accordance with the Distribution Policy.

2.7 Staff Training

Each Collecting Society will take reasonable steps to ensure that its employees and agents are aware of, and at all times comply with, this Code. In particular, a Collecting Society will take reasonable steps to ensure that its employees and agents are aware of the procedures for handling complaints and resolving disputes set out in clause 3, and are able to explain those procedures to Members, Licensees and the general public.

2.8 Education and Awareness

- (a) Each Collecting Society will engage in appropriate activities to promote awareness among Members, Licensees and the general public about the following matters:
 - (i) the importance of copyright;
 - (ii) the role and functions of Collecting Societies in administering copyright generally; and
 - (iii) the role and functions of that Collecting Society in particular;

and will make information about these matters available, on reasonable request, to Members, Licensees and the general public.

- (b) In deciding what activities are appropriate for the purposes of paragraph (a),
 a Collecting Society will take into account the following factors:
 - (i) its size;
 - (ii) the number of Members it has;
 - (iii) the number of Licensees it has;
 - (iv) the amount of Revenue it collects annually; and
 - (v) the possibility of undertaking activities jointly with another Collecting Society.
- (c) Without limiting paragraph (a) or any other obligation in this Code, each
 Collecting Society will produce and make available appropriate information
 about the following:
 - (i) the eligibility criteria for membership of the Collecting Society;
 - (ii) the benefits of membership of the Collecting Society;

- (iii) the responsibilities of Members under the Constitution of the Collecting Society and any Membership Agreement;
- (iv) any policies and procedures of the Collecting Society that affect Members;
- (v) the benefits to Licensees of obtaining a licence from the Collecting Society;
- (vi) the responsibilities of Licensees under a licence granted by the Collecting Society, and under the *Copyright Act 1968* and other applicable laws; and
- (vii) any policies and procedures of the Collecting Society that affect Licensees.

3. COMPLAINTS AND DISPUTES

- (a) Each Collecting Society will develop and publicise procedures for:
 - (i) dealing with complaints from Members and Licensees; and
 - (ii) resolving disputes between the Collecting Society and:
 - A. its Members; and/or
 - B. its Licensees.
- (b) The procedures developed under paragraph (a) will apply to any complaint about a matter covered by the Code which adequately identifies the nature of the complaint and the identity of the person complaining.
- (c) The procedures developed under paragraph (a) will comply with the requirements of Australian Standard ISO 10002-2006 *Customer Satisfaction*. In developing its procedures, a Collecting Society will have particular regard to the following principles:

- The procedures should define the categories of complaints and disputes they cover and explain the way in which each will be dealt with.
- (ii) Information on how to make complaints should be readily accessible to Members and Licensees.
- (iii) Each Collecting Society should provide reasonable assistance to a Member or Licensee in the formulation and lodgement of a complaint.
- (iv) The procedures should recognise the need to be fair to both the person complaining and the Collecting Society to which the complaint relates.
- (v) The procedures should specify by position who in the first instance will handle complaints on behalf of the Collecting Society.
- (vi) The procedures should indicate time frames for the handling of complaints and disputes.
- (vii) Each Collecting Society should provide a written response to a complaint that is made in writing.
- (viii) Each Collecting Society should establish appropriate alternative dispute resolution procedures.
- (ix) Each Collecting Society will ensure that adequate resources are made available for the purpose of responding to complaints and resolving disputes.
- (d) Each Collecting Society will regularly review its complaint handling and dispute resolution procedures to ensure that they continue to comply with the requirements of this Code.

4. PUBLICITY AND REPORTING

- (a) Each Collecting Society will:
 - (i) take appropriate steps to publicise this Code and the fact that it has agreed to be bound by it; and
 - (ii) make copies of the Code available to Members, Licensees and the general public on request.
- (b) Each Collecting Society will include in its Annual Report a statement about its compliance with this Code.

5. MONITORING, REVIEW AND AMENDMENTS

5.1 Code Reviewer

- (a) The Collecting Societies that have agreed to be bound by this Code will appoint a Code Reviewer with specialist expertise in administrative law, copyright law and/or licensing practices to perform the functions conferred by paragraph (c).
- (b) The Code Reviewer will be independent of the Collecting Societies and will have no association with any of them. Neither a lack of independence nor any "association" will, however, be inferred purely by virtue of that person having provided professional services to a collecting societγ of a kind that does not, or did not, relate to a matter covered by the Code. The Code Reviewer will be appointed for a minimum period of three years.
- (c) The functions of the Code Reviewer are:
 - (i) to monitor and prepare annual reports on the level of compliance by Collecting Societies with the obligations imposed on them by this Code;
 - (ii) as part of the functions under subparagraph (i), to consider complaints from Members or Licensees in accordance with clause 5.2 (c); and
 - (iii) to conduct a review of the Code in accordance with clause 5.3.
- (d) Each Collecting Society will contribute to the costs and expenses of the Code Reviewer as agreed from time to time.

5.2 Annual Compliance Monitoring and Reporting

- (a) For the purposes of performing his or her functions under clause 5.1(c), the Code Reviewer may undertake such consultations as he or she considers appropriate. Without limiting his or her discretion, the Code Reviewer may:
 - call for submissions from Members, Licensees and the general public, and from groups representing them, on the level of compliance by Collecting Societies with the obligations under this Code;
 - (ii) convene meetings with such individuals or groups as he or she considers appropriate; and
 - (iii) consult with the Commonwealth Department(s) responsible for the administration of the *Copyright Act 1968* and such other
 Commonwealth, State or Territory Government agency as he or she considers appropriate.
- (b) In addition to the consultations undertaken in accordance with paragraph
 (a), each Collecting Society will report annually to the Code Reviewer on that Collecting Society's compliance with this Code, including:
 - (i) its training of employees and agents in accordance with clause 2.7;
 - (ii) the activities it has undertaken under clause 2.8(a); and
 - (iii) the number of complaints it has received and how those complaints have been resolved.

To assist Collecting Societies in complying with this paragraph, the Code Reviewer will develop templates and/or guidelines for the preparation of reports.

(c) The Code Reviewer may, subject to the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect that a complaint made by the Member or Licensee to the Collecting Society under clause 3 of this Code was not addressed in the manner required by clause 3(c) of the Code.

- (d) Upon receipt of a complaint from a Member or a Licensee of the type referred to in paragraph (c) above, the Code Reviewer must:
 - (i) request of the complainant sufficient information and documentation as to the specific breaches alleged as may be required to elucidate the nature of the complaint;
 - (ii) provide the relevant Collecting Society with full details of the complaint as so elucidated and allow the Collecting Society a reasonable period within which to provide a response;
 - (iii) to the extent that the Collecting Society's response makes allegations against the complainant, provide full details of that response to the complainant and allow the complainant a reasonable time within which to reply to those allegations.
- Having considered the views of both the complainant and the relevant
 Collecting Society under paragraph (d), the Code Reviewer must form a view
 on the merits of the complaint that the society failed to comply with cl 3 (c):
 namely,
 - (i) whether it is wholly or partly justified;
 - (ii) whether it is wholly or partly unjustified; or
 - (iii) whether some other view is appropriate and if so, what view and for what reason

and inform the complainant and the Collecting Society of that view, making such recommendations as may be appropriate in the circumstances. If the Code Reviewer considers it appropriate, he or she may also report on that complaint in the annual report produced pursuant to paragraph (f).

- (f) Following his or her consultations, and consideration of the Collecting Societies' reports, the Code Reviewer will prepare annually a report on compliance generally by Collecting Societies with this Code. The Code Reviewer will make a copy of the report available to:
 - (i) each Collecting Society;
 - (ii) the Commonwealth Department(s) responsible for the administration of the *Copyright Act 1968*;

- (iii) each individual or group that made a submission to the Code Reviewer; and
- (iv) members of the public.

5.3 Review and Recommendations for Amendment of the Code

- (a) This Code will be reviewed:
 - (i) following the expiry of two years from the Code coming into effect; and
 - (ii) at least once within each subsequent three year period.
- (b) For the purposes of a Review of the Code, the Code Reviewer will:
 - (i) invite written submissions on the operation of the Code and on any amendments that are necessary or desirable to improve the operation of the Code;
 - (ii) convene and publicise widely, during the period in which submissions may be made, one or more meetings that Members, Licensees and the general public may attend to make oral submissions to the Review; and
 - (iii) undertake such other consultations as he or she considers appropriate, including consultations of the kind set out in clause 5.2(a).
- (c) Each Collecting Society will inform its Members and Licensees in an appropriate manner that the Review is being conducted and that they may make submissions to the Code Reviewer.
- (d) The Code Reviewer will allow a period of at least two months for the making of submissions.
- (e) At the completion of the period for the making of submissions, the Code Reviewer will prepare a report of the Review, and will make such recommendations as he or she considers appropriate in relation to the

operation of the Code, including recommendations for amendments of the Code.

- (f) The Code Reviewer will make a copy of the report of the Review available to:
 - (i) each Collecting Society;
 - (ii) the Commonwealth Department(s) responsible for the administration of the *Copyright Act 1968*;
 - (iii) each individual or group that made a submission to the Code Reviewer; and
 - (iv) members of the public.

6. **DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION**

6.1 Definitions

In this Code:

Constitution means the documents that establish and govern the operations of a Collecting Society. In the case of a Collecting Society that is incorporated, this would include the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Collecting Society.

Licensee means:

- (a) a person granted permission by a Collecting Society to use copyright material;
- (b) a person entitled to use copyright material under a statutory licence in the *Copyright Act 1968;*
- (c) a person who requires a licence from a Collecting Society to use copyright material; and
- (d) for the purposes of this Code, people who are obliged to report resales and people who are liable to pay royalties under the *Resale Royalty Right for Visual Artists Act 2009.*

Member means a person who creates copyright material, or who owns or controls copyright material or a resale royalty right, and who is entitled to be a member of a Collecting Society under its Constitution. This includes creators of copyright material, such as authors, publishers, playwrights, musicians, composers, artists, computer programmers, producers or broadcasters, as well as people or organisations to whom the rights in copyright material have been assigned or in whom they have become vested.

6.2 Interpretation

- (a) Where there is any doubt about the intent or scope of this Code, it should be interpreted in the light of the objectives set out in clause 1.3.
- (b) Where this Code requires a Collecting Society to make information or documents available on request, such request is generally satisfied by making the information or documents available on a website. Where a person requiring the information or documents advises that they cannot access the Internet, the Collecting Society should take reasonable steps to satisfy their request in another way.

TABLE OF AMENDMENTS TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT

Amendment Date	Clause	Amendment
April 2005 Following agreement by the societies	5.3(a)(i)	 (a) This Code will be reviewed: (i) following the expiry of two years from the Code coming into effect; and
April 2005 Following triennial review Of the Code of Conduct	2.3(c)(ii)	"Each Collecting Society will: (ii) to the extent it reasonably can, having regard to the complexity of the questions of fact and law necessarily involved, take steps to ensure that all licences offered by the Collecting Society are drafted so as to be plainly understandable to Licensees, and are accompanied by practical and suitable explanatory material; and"
May 2007 Following agreement by the Societies	Clause 5.1	 Amend paragraph (c) to read as follows: (c) The functions of the Code Reviewer are: (i) to monitor, and prepare annual reports on, the level of compliance by Collecting Societies with the obligations imposed on them by this Code; (ii) as part of the functions under subparagraph (i), to consider complaints from Members or Licensees in accordance with clause 5.2 (c); and (iii) to conduct a review of the Code in accordance with clause 5.3.

Clause 5.2Insert new paragraphs after paragraph(b) as follows and renumber the current paragraph (c) as (f):(c) The Code Reviewer may, subject to the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect that a complaint made by the	t
paragraph (c) as (f): (c) The Code Reviewer may, subject to the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect	L
(c) The Code Reviewer may, subject to the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect	
the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect	
the terms of this paragraph, receive and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect	
and consider complaints from Members or Licensees to the effect	
Members or Licensees to the effect	
Member or Licensee to the Collection	חס
Society under clause 3 of this Code	'Б
was not addressed in the manner	
required by clause 3(c) of the Code.	
(d) Upon receipt of a complaint from a	
Member or a Licensee of the type	
referred to in paragraph (c) above,	
the Code Reviewer must:	
(i) request of the complainant	
sufficient information and	
documentation as to the	
specific breaches alleged as	
may be required to elucidate	
the nature of the complaint;	
(ii) provide the relevant Collecting	Į
Society with full details of the	
complaint as so elucidated and	
allow the Collecting Society a	
reasonable period within which	h
to provide a response;	
(iii) to the extent that the Collectin	ig
Society's response makes	
allegations against the	
complainant, provide full detai	ls
of that response to the	
complainant and allow the	
complainant a reasonable time	.
within which to reply to those	
allegations.	

3

		 (e) Having considered the views of both the complainant and the relevant Collecting Society under paragraph (d), the Code Reviewer must form a view on the merits of the complaint: – namely, (i) whether it is wholly or partly justified; (ii) whether it is wholly or partly unjustified; or (iii) whether some other view is appropriate and if so, what view and for what reason and inform the complainant and the Collecting Society of that view, making such recommendations as may be appropriate in the circumstances. If the Code Reviewer considers it appropriate, he or she may also report on that complaint in the annual report produced pursuant to paragraph (f).
April 2008 Further reviewed following triennial review of the Code of Conduct	Clause 5.2 (e)	 (e) Having considered the views of both the complainant and the relevant Collecting Society under paragraph (d), the Code Reviewer must form a view on the merits of the complaint that the society failed to comply with cl 3 (c): – namely,
April 2008 Following agreement by the Societies - replacement of superseded Australian Standard	Clause 3 (c)	(c) The procedures developed under paragraph (a) will comply with the requirements of Australian Standard ISO 10002-2006 – <i>Customer Satisfaction</i> .

April 2011 Reviewed following Triennial Review of the Code of Conduct	Clause 1.1 (a)	 (a) Collecting Societies in Australia provide a range of valuable services to both Members and Licensees. By administering copyright or the resale royalty right or both on behalf of Members, Collecting Societies:
	Clause 1.3 (a) and (b)	 (a) to promote awareness of and access to information about copyright or the resale royalty right or both and the role and function of Collecting Societies in administering copyright or the resale royalty right or both on behalf of Members;
		(b) to promote confidence in Collecting Societies and the effective administration of copyright or the resale royalty right or both in Australia;
	Clause 2.1 (f)	(f) in the case of the declared collecting society under that Act, the <i>Resale Royalty Right for</i> <i>Visual Artists Act 2009</i> ; and
	Clause 2.2 (a)	 (a) The membership of a Collecting Society will be open to all eligible creators of copyright material, and to anyone who owns or controls copyright material or the resale royalty right or both, in accordance with the Constitution of the Collecting Society.

	()	1
Clause 2.3	(iii)	consult with relevant trade
(c)		associations in relation to the
[deleted]		terms and conditions applying to
		licences or licence schemes
		offered by the Collecting Society.
Clause 2.3 (e) and (f) [inserted]	(e)	The Collecting Societies acknowledge the important role played by relevant industry associations in relation to the formulation of terms and conditions applying to licences or licence schemes offered by some
		Collecting Societies.
	(f)	Each Collecting Society will where appropriate consult in good faith with relevant industry associations in relation to the terms and conditions applying to licences or licence schemes
		offered by the Collecting Society.
Clause 6.1 Licensee (d)	(d)	for the purposes of this Code, people who are obliged to report resales and people who are liable to pay royalties under the <i>Resale</i> <i>Royalty Right For Visual Artists</i> <i>Act 2009</i> .
Clause 6.1	Memb	er means a person who creates
Member		ght material, or who owns or
		ls copyright material or a resale
	royalty	right, and who is entitled to be a
		er of a Collecting Society under its
		tution. This includes creators of
	copyri	ght material, such as authors,
	publishers, playwrights, musicians,	
 		sers, artists, computer

programmers, producers or
broadcasters, as well as people or
organisations to whom the rights in
copyright material have been assigned or
in whom they have become vested.